United Nations $E_{\text{C.2/2003/2}}$



Economic and Social Council

Distr.: General 4 October 2002

Original: English

Committee on Non-Governmental Organizations

2003 regular session (5-24 May 2003)
Review of quadrennial reports submitted by non-governmental organizations in general and special consultative status with the Economic and Social Council

Quadrennial reports, 1997-2000, submitted through the Secretary-General pursuant to Economic and Social Council resolution 1996/31

Note by the Secretary-General

Contents

		Page
1.	International Association of Women in Radio and Television.	2
2.	International Indian Treaty Council.	3
3.	International Press Institute	6
4.	International Youth and Student Movement for the United Nations	8
5.	Islamic Relief.	11
6.	National Action Committee on the Status of Women (Canada).	14
7.	National Council of Women of Canada.	18
8.	Pathways to Peace	22
9.	Robert F. Kennedy Memorial	24
10.	Women's Missionary Society of the African Methodist Episcopal Church	27

1. International Association of Women in Radio and Television

(Special consultative status granted 1985)

The International Association of Women in Radio and Television (IAWRT) provides a forum for personal contact and professional development among women broadcasters worldwide. Founded in 1951 the Association is a network of women engaged in the field of radio and television broadcasting and in fields closely allied to the broadcasting industry.

The Association is a non-profit, non-governmental organization of women broadcasters who exchange ideas, professional skills and technical knowledge and utilize resources to support women working or training in electronic media, with particular attention to women broadcasters in developing countries.

The International Association of Women in Radio and Television actively recruits members worldwide and establishes cooperative relationships with other media women's organizations. The Association includes members from Australia, Asia, Africa, Europe, Latin America and the Caribbean, and the United States of America. Recruitment is an ongoing effort.

The Association's financial resources are derived from membership dues on a sliding scale to accommodate all salary levels. In addition, IAWRT receives some funding from the Norwegian development organizations NORAD and Focus and special conference support from Friedrich Ebert Stiftung of Germany and Worldview.

The Association works closely with the Women's International Media Foundation, a non-governmental organization in consultative status with the Economic and Social Council; Young Asia Television in Colombo, Sri Lanka; and Worldview. Local women's media organizations in various countries in Africa and in Sri Lanka, India and Germany work closely with IAWRT, particularly in organizing regional meetings and biennial conferences.

The Association participates in the annual conferences organized by the Non-Governmental Organization section of the Department of Public Information, held at the United Nations in September and October. Main and alternate IAWRT representatives to the United Nations and various members attended preparatory committee meetings from 28 February to 17 March 2000.

The Association participated in the twenty-third special session of the General Assembly entitled "Women 2000: Gender equality, development and peace for the twenty-first century". The Association presented three non-governmental organization workshops during the special session at the Methodist Church Center and at the Freedom Forum and organized round-table discussions on the following topics: (a) Status of women and the media; (b) Media, women and equipment; and (c) Women, media and machines. IAWRT also presented hands-on demonstrations and training sessions.

Based on section J (Women and the media) of the Platform for Action, IAWRT presented a statement of views and proposals targeted to the public and to media practitioners. The statement was widely distributed to non-governmental organizations and to official delegates to the special session.

The Association created workshops in cooperation with the International Media Foundation and the World Association of Community Radio Broadcasters (AMARC), a media organization based in Canada that seeks to develop women's participation in community radio.

The IAWRT main representative was one of the primary organizers and managers of the official non-governmental organization press centre throughout the special session. The press centre, a cooperative endeavour by the Communications Consortium Media Center and the Women's International Tribune Center, was effective in providing information and daily press releases, arranging press conferences, individual interview opportunities and computer and telephone service for approximately 1,200 reporters worldwide, representing radio, television, magazines, newspapers and other news organizations.

The Association has accredited representatives to the United Nations in Geneva, Asia and Africa whose responsibility is to attend and report on United Nations meetings and conferences held in those areas.

IAWRT organized regional meetings between biennial conferences in Harare, Zimbabwe (November 1999), Cameroon (November 2000) and Norway (December 2000). The meetings from one to three days in duration, served to reinforce commitment to actions that will implement the Platform for Action, build networks, and inform and motivate women broadcasters. At the meeting held in Norway, which included participants from Denmark, Finland and Sweden, papers were presented on gender roles in the media and on efforts to sensitize journalists and the public to the role of the media.

Members of the International Association of Women in Radio and Television participated in the Asia-Pacific regional meeting in Bangkok in September 2000, where conference discussions encompassed the implementation of the Platform for Action.

In 1999, IAWRT established a web site, which is accessible worldwide to members and other interested parties. The web site (http://www.iawrt.org) contains relevant and current information, United Nations updates, a database, current and past issues of the *IAWRT Newsletter* and a variety of radio and television clips from worldwide news sources.

In the same year, IAWRT established a practical internship programme in cooperation with Young Asia Television in Sri Lanka. It is a project in which IAWRT members are offered three months of sponsored practical training in production at YA*TV studios in Colombo.

2. International Indian Treaty Council

(Special consultative status granted 1977)

The International Indian Treaty Council is an organization of indigenous peoples from North, Central and South America and the Pacific working for the sovereignty and self-determination of indigenous peoples and the recognition and protection of indigenous rights, treaties, traditional cultures and sacred lands. The International Indian Treaty Council (IITC) was founded in 1974 at a gathering in

Standing Rock, South Dakota, attended by more than 5,000 representatives of 98 indigenous nations. In 1977, the Council was recognized as a category II non-governmental organization with special consultative status to the Economic and Social Council, the first indigenous organization to attain this status.

The aims and purpose of the IITC include the following: (a) to recognize and promote the political, economic and cultural sovereignty and self-determination of indigenous nations around the world; (b) to base its work and activism on the traditional values of the indigenous world, and to recognize and respect the guidance and leadership of the traditional elders and spiritual leaders; (c) to build and strengthen unity and alliances among indigenous peoples of the world; (d) to affirm rights of indigenous peoples as expressed in international treaties, laws and principles of human rights; (e) to educate non-Indian people and organizations about Indian cultures and struggles for self-determination, racial and environmental justice; (f) to present an indigenous world view based on peace, respect and balance as an alternative to militarism, industrialism, and exploitation and destruction of the natural world.

Since the last quadrennial report in 1996 IITC has opened three new offices in the following locations:

- Indigenous Trading Company, P.O. Box 7276, Minneapolis, Minnesota 55407-0276
- Central America Regional Office, 32 Av. 1-56 Zona 7, Guatemala, Colonia UTATLAN
- New York Office, P.O. Box 3727, Grand Central Station, New York NY 10163

The IITC continues to provide a unique link, voice and organizing base for traditional and grass-roots peoples to address issues of critical concern to their communities. IITC's member affiliates include over 100 organizations, tribes and communities. Affiliated indigenous communities have direct input into the planning, implementation and evaluation of IITC programmes, priorities, policies and positions by participating in the Council's conferences and serving on its Board of Directors.

The Council prioritizes coalition and strategic alliance building, broad-based collaboration and networking with a wide variety of indigenous and non-indigenous non-governmental organizations to address issues of common concern, share information and coordinate organizational strategies. Some of IITC's active affiliations and alliances include: Indigenous Environmental Network, World Council of Churches, National Congress of American Indians, American Indian Law Alliance, Amnesty International, and the Saami Council.

The IITC has participated annually from 1997 to 2000 in the Economic and Social Council and its subsidiary bodies, including the Commission on Human Rights; the Working Group on Indigenous Populations; the Subcommission for the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights; and the open-ended intersessional Working Group of the Commission on Human Rights on the elaboration of a draft declaration on the rights of indigenous people.

Additionally, the Council participated in the fourth and fifth Conferences of the Parties to the Convention on Biological Diversity (Bratislava, 1998, and Kenya, 2000); in sessions of the Commission on Sustainable Development, the Ad Hoc

Intergovernmental Panel on Forestry and the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change from 1997 to 2000, and in preparatory committee sessions and expert seminars for the World Conference against Racism, Racial Discrimination, Xenophobia and Related Intolerance in 2000.

Numerous oral and written statements were made at each session. In 1997, IITC interventions at United Nations forums addressed indigenous peoples' right to development, children's rights, health and the Human Genome Diversity Project, United Nations treaty study, Chiapas and armed conflict, Guatemala and the Agreement on a Firm and Lasting Peace, toxic waste dumping, protection of the heritage of indigenous peoples and study on indigenous land rights. In 1998, IITC statements focused on protecting ecosystems from imposed development, forced relocation from traditional homelands, prisoner rights, intellectual property rights, a permanent forum on indigenous issues, a draft declaration on the rights of indigenous peoples, the rights of women migrant workers, combating racism and racial discrimination, human rights and scientific and technological development, and the rights of all peoples to self-determination.

In 1999, the Council addressed civil and political rights, religious intolerance, protection of sacred sites, the question of impunity, the health of the world's indigenous peoples and the Workshop on Indigenous Media as well as traditional subsistence practices, forest and land management, and water rights. In 2000, statements concerned international standard-setting discussions on forests, climate change, persistent organic pollutants, strengthening international agreements, the International Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Racial Discrimination, and environmental justice as well as biological ethics.

From 1997 to 2000, IITC provided credentials for indigenous delegates from Alaska, the United States of America, and Bolivia, Canada, Ecuador, Guatemala, Panama and Mexico to participate in United Nations forums.

In 1998 the United Nations invited the Council to submit a report on the Human Genome Project, which subsequently appeared as a document of the Economic and Social Council (E/CN.4/Sub.2/AC.4/1998/4/Add.1). The IITC has held consultations with the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights regarding the third World Conference against Racism, Racial Discrimination, Xenophobia and Related Intolerance Plan of Action, the human rights situation in Guatemala and Mexico and the establishment of the Permanent Forum on Indigenous Issues within the United Nations system. The Council has also met with the World Intellectual Property Organization about traditional knowledge systems; with the United Nations Development Programme (UNDP) concerning the re-establishment of an indigenous task force within that organization; and with the World Health Organization on developing a health policy for the world's indigenous peoples.

In 1997, the Executive Director of the International Indian Treaty Council was one of two indigenous representatives invited to address the nineteenth special session of the General Assembly for the purpose of an overall review and appraisal of the implementation of Agenda 21, representing the major group indigenous peoples. IITC provided consultation to the United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization International Bioethics Committee and participated in the UNESCO expert seminar on the implementation of the right to self-determination as a contribution to conflict prevention in Barcelona. IITC has continued to participate

as a member organization in the World Conservation Union addressing environmental and conservation issues.

The Council filed a formal complaint that resulted in a visit in 1998 by the Special Rapporteur on all forms of intolerance and of discrimination based on religion or belief to the United States, during which IITC coordinated, at the request of the Special Rapporteur, presentations by over 40 indigenous communities, tribes, organizations and spiritual leaders, focusing on the spiritual relationship between indigenous peoples and their traditional lands and sacred sites.

Other complaints and urgent actions were submitted, monitored and/or updated by IITC to the Special Representative of the Secretary-General on internally displaced persons (Mexico); the Special Rapporteur on extrajudicial, summary or arbitrary executions (Guatemala); the Special Rapporteur on indigenous peoples and their relationship to land (United States); the Special Rapporteur on all forms of intolerance and of discrimination based on religion or belief (United States); and the Special Rapporteur on treaties, agreements and other constructive arrangements between States and indigenous populations (Mexico, United States); as well as the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights, the International Labour Organization (Oaxaca, Mexico) and the Working Group on Arbitrary Detention (El Salvador, Mexico and the United States).

The IITC received financial support from the Voluntary Fund for Indigenous Populations to attend the Working Group on Indigenous Populations of the Subcommission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights in 1998 and nominated a participant in the United Nations fellowship programme for the International Decade of the World's Indigenous People in 1997. The financial resources of the IITC have improved slowly but steadily over the past four years, with foundation grants and individual donations continuing to provide the bulk of the Council's funding.

3. International Press Institute (IPI)

(Special consultative status granted 1993)

Introductory statement

The International Press Institute (IPI) is a global network of editors, media executives and leading journalists dedicated to protecting and furthering freedom of the press and improving the standards and practices of journalism. Founded in October 1950 by 34 editors from 15 countries, today IPI has grown into a truly global organization with over 2,000 members in 110 countries. Even though the size of the organization has changed, its philosophy remains the same: that freedom of expression is the right that protects all other rights and that this freedom needs to be promoted and defended.

The Institute's membership is made up of editors and media executives working for some of the world's most respected media outlets. IPI has also established a new membership category, "IPI leading journalists", which is open to heads of media departments, bureau chiefs, correspondents and others. Moreover, in several countries, IPI members have established national committees that support

the Institute in its work to improve the situation for the media. IPI is a member of the World Press Freedom Committee.

International Press Institute consultative activities with United Nations bodies and specialized agencies

January 1997: Paris. An IPI representative attended the third consultative committee meeting in Paris to prepare the United Nations UNESCO European Seminar on Promoting Independent and Pluralistic Media, which was held in September 1997 in Sofia. IPI also provided UNESCO with background information on the situation of the European media.

18-20 May 1997: New York. The IPI Director attended the meeting of the Coordinating Committee of Press Freedom Organizations, of which IPI is a member. The meeting was organized to coincide with the May session of the Committee on Information, during which influential non-aligned countries were once again expected to promote the new world information and communication order (NWICO). The ministers of information of nearly 30 non-aligned countries, at a conference held in Abuja, Nigeria from 3 to 6 September 1996, had called for the revival of the concept of this new world order. In their declaration, the ministers claimed that developed nations were employing their media to disseminate false and distorted information on events taking place in developing countries — the same argument used in the original drive for NWICO in the 1970s.

At a meeting with Samir Sanbar, Assistant Secretary-General for Public Information, the Coordinating Committee was assured that the issue of NWICO would not come up at their 1997 meetings. However, another plan, a United Nations world media conference, is still a possibility and could become more concrete at any given time. The Committee promised to watch closely any developments.

27 May 1998: Moscow. IPI members meeting in Moscow for the IPI annual World Congress and forty-seventh General Assembly issued a resolution urging authorities around the world to reaffirm article 19 of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights on the occasion of the fiftieth anniversary of the Declaration. At the same event, the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights, Mary Robinson, spoke about fifty years of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights.

December 1998: Vienna. The Institute, in cooperation with Pressclub Concordia and the Austrian newspaper publishers association, marked the celebration of the fiftieth anniversary of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights by inviting Henrikas Yushkiavitshus, Assistant Director-General for Communication, Information and Informatics of UNESCO to present a lecture on new threats to freedom of opinion and expression. The lecture was attended by Austrian editors, foreign correspondents, diplomats and parliamentarians from the various political parties of Austria. The event was presided over by Heinz Fischer, President of the Austrian Parliament, who spoke about Austria's commitment to human rights.

21 February 1999: Washington, D.C. The Institute's Director attended a meeting of the Coordinating Committee of Press Freedom Organizations in Washington, D.C. The meeting adopted the following resolution on the successor to Federico Mayor, Director-General of UNESCO:

We, the undersigned representatives of the Coordinating Committee of Press Freedom Organizations, urge that the member States of UNESCO, in their search for a successor to Director-General Federico Mayor, when his term ends in fall 1999, require of any candidate for selection as Director-General that he or she makes a positive, unambiguous and public commitment to reaffirm and emphasise freedom of expression, including freedom of the press. Such a commitment to press freedom is founded in the UNESCO Constitution, and in the five regional declarations (Windhoek, Almaty, Santiago de Chile, Sana'a and Sofia) on promoting independent and pluralistic media that were endorsed by UNESCO's General Conferences.

- 1 March 1999: Paris. The IPI Director attended an NGO consultation meeting on the societal impact of the new information and communication technologies at UNESCO headquarters in Paris. UNESCO convened the informal meeting to gather the views and expectations of some of its main partners, especially those working in close cooperation with the communication, information and informatics sector.
- **3 May 2000: Boston, Massachusetts.** Louise Fréchette, Deputy Secretary-General of the United Nations, addressed over 400 participants in the IPI annual World Congress at the closing ceremony on World Press Freedom Day (3 May).
- 4-5 May 2000: Geneva, Switzerland. An IPI representative attended a round table on media in conflict and post-conflict areas organized in Geneva by the UNESCO Programme for Freedom of Expression, Democracy and Peace. Representatives of intergovernmental organizations and non-governmental organizations met to discuss how to combat war propaganda and hate speech without detriment to freedom of the press and the editorial independence of local media. A charter of recommendations for future action was drafted by the participants at the end of the two-day meeting.
- 13-15 November: Paris. The IPI Director took part in INFOethics 2000 on the Right to Universal Access to Information in the Twenty-first Century at UNESCO headquarters in Paris. The main themes of the conference were the role of public authorities in access to information; the fair use concept in the information society; and the protection of human dignity in the digital age. The declared aim of the meeting was to examine the possibility of building up an international consensus on ethical and legal principles applicable in cyberspace and to further consolidate the new information society programme of UNESCO.

4. International Youth and Student Movement for the United Nations (ISMUN)

(General consultative status granted 1973)

Introduction

The International Youth and Student Movement for the United Nations (ISMUN) is an international youth and student organization working with young people and students for the aims and ideals of the United Nations — for peace, justice, development, human rights and international solidarity — in order to promote an informed public and wider knowledge about the United Nations, its actual meaning and its potentialities. ISMUN has member associations on all

continents working in a variety of ways for the implementation of United Nations plans and programmes and for a more just and equitable world. During the period 1997 to 2000, ISMUN continued its active and comprehensive involvement with a broad spectrum of issues on the United Nations agenda, with participation of its members from all regions, in particular from developing countries.

Participation in United Nations meetings and conferences

During the period under review the Movement has regularly participated in the annual sessions of the Economic and Social Council. At the 1997 session, ISMUN made an oral statement on the elimination of racism and another on new and innovative ideas for generating funds for development. At the 1998 session ISMUN followed up with an oral statement on funding development.

ISMUN has regularly attended the Commission on Human Rights and the Subcommission on the Promotion and Protection of Human Rights. At the 1997 session of the Commission on Human Rights, ISMUN, on behalf of a group of nongovernmental organizations, made an oral statement on racism and for the convening of a world conference against racism. ISMUN has also associated itself with joint statements made by other non-governmental organizations to the Commission.

ISMUN has actively participated in all the sessions of the Commission on Sustainable Development. Several oral statements have been delivered to the Commission, including some on behalf of the youth caucus at the Commission.

ISMUN concentrated much of its activities during the first part of the 1990s on preparations for and participation in the major United Nations world conferences. Participation in the follow-up process has therefore been important for ISMUN, which has attended the different five-year review meetings of the world conferences, including the nineteenth special session of the General Assembly for the purpose of an overall review and appraisal of the implementation of Agenda 21 in June 1997; the twenty-first special session of the General Assembly for an overall review and appraisal of the implementation of the Programme of Action of the International Conference on Population and Development, 30 June to 2 July 1999; the twentysecond special session of the General Assembly for the review and appraisal of the implementation of the Programme of Action for the Sustainable Development of Small Island Developing States in September 1999; the twenty-fourth special session of the General Assembly on the World Summit for Social Development and Beyond: Achieving Social Development for All in a Globalized World in June 2000; and the twenty-third special session of the General Assembly entitled "Women 2000: Gender equality, development and peace for the twenty-first century" in June 2000.

Various meetings and activities were organized by ISMUN in connection with the review meetings. At the June 1997 special session on sustainable development in New York, ISMUN organized a youth forum that brought together the youth participants at the special session and resulted in the Earth Summit II youth declaration on sustainable development and global justice, which was presented to the President of the General Assembly and the Secretary-General.

ISMUN attended the World Conference of Ministers Responsible for Youth organized by Portugal in cooperation with the United Nations in August 1998 and delivered a statement at the plenary session of the Conference.

ISMUN has attended numerous other United Nations meetings on different topics, including those related to disarmament.

In its participation in the different United Nations meetings and conferences, ISMUN has paid special attention to ensuring representation of its leadership and members from developing countries, in particular those from Africa.

Cooperation with United Nations bodies and the Secretariat

The Movement has maintained cooperative relations with a range of secretariat departments and entities in the United Nations including, those related to development, disarmament, human rights, human settlements, youth, children, AIDS and South-South cooperation.

Promoting youth activities for South-South cooperation is an important field of activity for ISMUN, considering that the majority of ISMUN membership is based in the South. ISMUN maintains close relations with a range of prominent institutions and mechanisms of the South that promote South-South cooperation. In December 1999 ISMUN organized an international youth leadership training programme and conference in Lagos, Nigeria on the young generation and issues related to South-South cooperation. The conference was financially supported by the Perez-Guerrero Trust Fund of the Group of 77 and the United Nations Development Programme Special Unit for Technical Cooperation among Developing Countries, which cooperated in the preparation of the meeting. The leadership training programme for South-South cooperation has been followed up in cooperation with regional youth structures in the South and at United Nations meetings and conferences.

In the African region programmes and activities on youth health have been developed through the Movement's African regional office as follow-up to the youth conference against AIDS that ISMUN organized in Accra in September 1996 with support from a number of institutions, including the Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (UNAIDS).

ISMUN has taken an active interest in the youth policy programmes of the United Nations and has exerted efforts for the implementation of General Assembly resolutions on youth policies. ISMUN participated in the World Youth Forum of the United Nations system organized by the Secretariat in Portugal in August 1998.

Cooperation with non-governmental organizations in support of United Nations objectives

The Movement considers cooperation and joint activities among NGOs in consultative status to be of great importance for advancing common objectives and promoting implementation of United Nations programmes.

ISMUN members were repeatedly elected to different capacities in the NGO Steering Committee for the Commission on Sustainable Development from 1997 to 2000.

During the period under review ISMUN has served as Vice Chair of the Special NGO Committee on Development (Geneva) and Bureau member of the Special NGO Committee on Disarmament (Geneva). It has also held positions in the Geneva Informal Meeting of International Youth non-governmental organizations, NGO Liaison Forum on Environment and Development and the NGO Subcommittee on the South.

ISMUN served as co-convenor of the Interim Steering Committee of the NGO Planning Committee for the World Conference against Racism, Racial Discrimination, Xenophobia and Related Intolerance from 1999 until the first preparatory committee meeting of the Conference.

ISMUN made a major effort during 1999-2000 to secure the success of the Millennium Forum which was held at United Nations Headquarters in May 2000. ISMUN attended all the Planning Consultative Council and Steering Committee meetings and was elected Vice Chair of the Steering Committee and Vice Chair of the Planning Consultative Council of the Millennium Forum.

5. Islamic Relief

(Special consultative status granted 1993)

Introduction

The present report outlines the activities of Islamic Relief in particular its contribution to the work of the United Nations.

Islamic Relief is an international relief and development charity aimed at alleviating the suffering of the world's poorest nations. It is an independent, non-political organization established in 1984. Since then Islamic Relief has grown rapidly and currently spans four continents, initiating emergency and long-term development projects in some of the poorest communities around the world. With its headquarters in Birmingham, United Kingdom, Islamic Relief has nine fund-raising offices registered in Belgium, France, Germany, Mauritius, the Netherlands, Sweden, Switzerland, the United Kingdom and the United States and eleven field offices in Afghanistan, Albania, Bangladesh, Bosnia, Egypt, Kosova, Mali, Pakistan, Palestine, the Russian Federation, Kabardin-Balkar Republic) and the Sudan. Islamic Relief specializes in the following sectors: education and vocational training; health and nutrition; water and sanitation; income generation; orphans' support; disaster preparedness; and emergency relief.

The organization has no relationship with any Government bearing on its management or the orientation of its activities. However, Islamic Relief may accept donations or services from governmental agencies wishing to support certain projects. For example, the Department for International Development of the United Kingdom has financially supported Islamic Relief development and emergency relief projects in Bangladesh, Mali and Pakistan.

Participation in United Nations conferences and meetings

Since 1997 Islamic Relief has participated in numerous conferences and meetings. From May to July 1999 the Islamic Relief field office in Albania

participated in various coordination meetings held by the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees (UNHCR) in Shkodra, northern Albania to discuss the conditions in the refugee camps and the security of refugees and expatriate staff. In February 2000 Islamic Relief's Emergency Relief Coordinator was present in various meetings in Moscow with UNHCR, the World Food Programme (WFP), UNICEF, the Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs (UNOCHA) and the World Health Organization (WHO). Those meetings concerned the Chechen crisis that had erupted four months before. The same representative participated in meetings during May 2000 in Nazran with the United Nations Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs to explore the humanitarian situation for displaced Chechens in the Republic of Ingushetia. In 2000, Islamic Relief participated in other conferences, meetings and workshops in Timbuktu and Bamako, Mali, and in Senegal organized by UNHCR, WFP and UNESCO, including the education for all conference. During the period 1998 to 2000, numerous meetings were held with UNHCR in Bosnia concerning the support for their return programme. On 8 November 2000 Islamic Relief met with WFP in Quetta, Pakistan, for the allocation of wheat for the provinces of Kandahar and Helmand. The following month, on 1 December 2000, WFP formally requested participation in a city-wide food distribution after Islamic Relief submitted a survey/assessment report.

Cooperation with United Nations programmes, bodies and specialized agencies

Kosova

- Mine awareness contract with UNICEF: child to child training, 1999 to 2000
- Mine awareness training contract United Nations Mine-Action Centre: imam and imam wives' training, 1999 to 2000
- Shelter programme contract for returnees UNHCR: 1999 to 2000

Bosnia

- Management Support Services training programme for Bosnian nongovernmental organizations, funded by UNHCR in 1999
- Cooperation with UNHCR coordinated return programme to Eastern Bosnia. Islamic Relief built over 200 homes and three schools

Chechnya

• From November 2000 to date, Islamic Relief has been working as an implementing partner for WFP in the Republic of Ingushetia.

Pakistan

• Islamic Relief has been working as a leading implementing partner of UNHCR in refugee camps since 2000. The organization has also been managing two refugee camps on behalf of UNHCR and is also acting in charge of the Chaman staging camp.

Mali

In 1997 Islamic Relief officers agreed on a plan with UNHCR officers to assist in the reintegration of repatriates and displaced people in Gourma-Rharous. UNHCR agreed to contribute 193,763 United States dollars (US\$) towards the cost of the project. Islamic Relief officers also participated with WFP representatives to improve cooperation on the ground.

Since 2000 Islamic Relief has worked in collaboration with the following agencies and offices:

- UNESCO, as part of the NGO consortium for the Education for All agenda
- WFP (Mali), in the evaluation mission of the WFP female strategy programme
- WFP (Mali), in the evaluation mission for the school canteens project

Sudan

- UNICEF has supported numerous projects, such as a mother and child health-care and feeding centre in El Obeid, from 1997 to date by providing vaccines, rehydration salts and Unimix for children who suffer from malnutrition
- The vocational training programme and the adult literacy programme in El Obeid were also supported by the World Food Programme through its food-forwork scheme from 1997 onward

Other relevant activities with the United Nations

Islamic Relief worked in the following co-financed projects between 1997 and 1999:

- With UNHCR, a community reintegration project for repatriation in northern Mali
- With WFP, food-for-work activities for the repatriate and resident communities in the circle of Gourma-Rharous, in the region of Timbuktu, Mali
- With WFP, food-for-training activities for the repatriate and resident population in the circle of Gourma-Rharous, in the region of Timbuktu, Mali
- With WFP, the school canteens support project for improvement to girls education in the circle of Gourma-Rharous in the region of Timbuktu, Mali
- In 1997 Islamic Relief became a member of the Conference of Non-Governmental Organizations in Consultative Status with the Economic and Social Council (CONGO)
- Islamic Relief sought advice from the World Health Organization in 1997 about the tuberculosis crisis in Chechnya, in order to market a proposal for the treatment of victims in the area
- In the same year, at the request of the Geneva office of UNHCR, Islamic Relief submitted information on its operational capacity in the form of a questionnaire

Membership of Islamic Relief, by region

Africa

19.000				
1.	Mali	1	institution	
2.	Sudan	1	institution	
Asia				
3.	Azerbaijan	1	institution	
4.	Bangladesh	1	institution	
5.	Kazakhstan	1	institution	
6.	Mauritius	1	institution	
7.	Pakistan	1	institution	
8.	Palestine	1	institution	
9.	Russian Federation (Kabardin-Balkar Republic)	1	institution	
Europe				
10.	Albania	1	institution	
11.	Belgium	1	institution	
12.	Bosnia	1	institution	
13.	France	1	institution	
14.	Germany	1	institution	
15.	Kosova	1	institution	
16.	Netherlands	1	institution	
17.	Sweden	1	institution	
18.	Switzerland	1	institution	
19.	United Kingdom	1	institution	
North America				

20 United St

20. United States of America 1 institution

6. National Action Committee on the Status of Women (Canada)

(Special consultative status granted 1997)

Introduction

The National Action Committee is Canada's largest feminist lobby organization advocating for the advancement of women's equal rights nationally and internationally. The Committee works from an anti-racist, anti-discriminatory

feminist principle and firmly believes that women's equality rights must include their social, cultural, political, civil and economic rights. NAC's membership is comprised of a coalition of over 700 diverse member groups from across Canada and includes women's centres and shelters, immigrant and refugee women, trade unions, Aboriginal and Metis women, organizations of women of colour, academic women's groups, student groups, lesbian groups and businesswomen's associations.

NAC carries out its work through lobbying of Government, research and policy development, popular education, international solidarity work and conferences within national and international settings. The present report provides information on the United Nations-related activities that NAC has undertaken for the period 1997 to 2000 since obtaining its consultative status. The activities primarily consisted of participation in conferences of the Economic and Social Council and its subsidiary bodies and other United Nations meetings. Domestic activities included promoting community awareness of resolutions passed at the United Nations and lobbying the Government to implement the resolutions passed.

Activities

1. 1997

January 1997. On behalf of women in Canada, representatives of the organization presented and submitted a document entitled "Canada: alternative report to CEDAW" at the sixteenth session of the Committee on the Elimination of Discrimination against Women in New York.

2. 1998

March 1998. An executive committee member of the NAC attended the forty-second session of the Commission on the Status of Women in New York and participated in the lobbying of Government.

3. 1999

March 1999. Representatives of the organization including the President, an executive member-at-large and the Executive Coordinator participated in the forty-third session of the Commission on the Status of Women held in New York.

NAC also participated in the preparation of a non-governmental organization global report undertaken by the Women's Environment and Development Organization on the progress of the world's Governments after the Fourth World Conference on Women (Beijing) and a non-governmental organization global report on the progress of the world's Governments after the International Conference on Population and Development. NAC's quarterly newsletter *Action Now!* featured a report on the forty-third session of the Commission on the Status of Women.

Action (domestic and international)

March 1999. NAC prepared a report for its member groups on the progress on the Commission's session and the preparatory meeting for the twenty-third special session of the General Assembly entitled "Women 2000: Gender equality, development and peace for the twenty-first century". NAC actively participated with other non-governmental organizations to lobby Governments and develop language,

particularly on the negotiations on the Draft Optional Protocol to the Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women, institutional mechanisms and health, and provided an oral and written submission on the Optional Protocol to the Member States on behalf of Canadian women.

NAC actively worked with various international non-governmental organization coalitions and caucuses including Black women and the Women of Colour North/South Caucus, the Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean caucus and other regional caucuses to define a global agenda for the next decade and a strategic direction to lobby Governments in relation to the Beijing Declaration and the Platform for Action. In this regard, NAC undertook critical interventions to broaden the dialogue and the inclusion of marginalized women. For example, lobbying for the substantive inclusion of indigenous women was one intervention made by the NAC President at the meeting of non-governmental organizations convened by the committees of the Conference of Non-Governmental Organizations in Consultative Status with the Economic and Social Council during the preparatory meeting of the special session. This intervention was instrumental in mobilizing broad non-governmental organization support for indigenous women's representation and participation in the discussions and negotiations.

As part of the ongoing work at the domestic level to ensure the adoption of a strong Optional Protocol, NAC lobbied the Government of Canada and mounted a public education campaign using different media, including print media and a feminist chat line.

4. 2000

January 2000. The President participated in the regional preparatory meetings of the Economic Commission of Europe for the twenty-third special session of the General Assembly, held in Geneva, Switzerland. The Committee lobbied Governments to continue the commitments to the Beijing Declaration and the Platform for Action for their enhancement and improvement. Along with other nongovernmental organizations, NAC was instrumental in achieving the inclusion of racism, in particular as it impacts violence against women, in the language of the final document issued at those meetings.

March 2000. Representatives of the organization, including the President, an executive member-at-large and the Executive Coordinator, participated in the forty-fourth session of the Commission on the Status of Women, held in New York from 28 February to 17 March, and the Preparatory Committee for the twenty-third special session of the General Assembly.

Action

As part of the Canadian coalition of non-governmental organizations and the international coalition of non-governmental organizations, the Committee actively participated in the development of a comprehensive and centralized non-governmental organizations lobbying document (linkages document) in support of the Platform for Action.

The Women of Colour North/South Caucus, of which NAC is a founding member, organized a workshop during the 23rd special session of the General Assembly to highlight the intersectionality of race and gender and the linkage between the Commission on the Status of Women process and the approaching World Conference against Racism, Racial Discrimination, Xenophobia and Related Intolerance to be held in South Africa in August and September 2001. In many ways the discussion was groundbreaking in the context of the Commission process. Although Black women and women of colour have been making the connections between race and gender at both domestic and international levels, integration of this analysis within the formal agenda of the Commission has posed a challenge.

NAC is one of the founding member organizations of the Women's International Coalition for Economic Justice (WICEJ) formed in March 2000. WICEJ is a coalition of women's organizations and individuals from the global South and North who have come together to develop collective analyses on the integration of gender and economic justice. The coalition has worked to develop language impact and advance non-governmental organization analyses; to lobby the Government at the negotiation table; to develop position papers to be utilized as lobbying tools; and to organize forums on gender and economic justice.

NAC's President participated as a panellist at a forum on integrating sexuality with human rights. The lesbian caucus organized the panel discussion, which was attended by over 150 delegates to the Preparatory Committee meetings in New York.

1-5 May 2000. The Executive Coordinator participated in the first Preparatory Committee meeting for the World Conference against Racism, Racial Discrimination, Xenophobia and Related Intolerance held in Geneva, Switzerland. It was the first meeting in the international preparatory processes leading up to the Conference. At that meeting NAC played an important role in facilitating the opportunity for a Canadian coalition of people of African descent to identify anti-Black racism as a barrier for African-Canadians to their full and equal participation in Canadian society. The Committee also actively participated in the development of key caucuses and coalitions.

2-9 June 2000. Representatives of the organization consisting of the President, an executive member-at-large, and the Executive Coordinator participated in the Preparatory Committee for the twenty-third special session of the General Assembly.

NAC actively participated in the special session, which carried out a comprehensive review and appraisal of the implementation of the Beijing Declaration and Platform for Action, adopted by Canada at the Fourth World Conference on Women in 1995, and considered further actions and initiatives for overcoming obstacles to the implementation of the Platform.

NAC's Executive Coordinator is a member of the steering committee of this coalition and on behalf of the coalition has moderated a public education forum on the subject and has made a panel presentation on NAC's research project, "From local to global", and its connection to the international context.

December 2000. The Executive Coordinator attended the regional preparatory meeting for the Americas for the World Conference against Racism, Racial Discrimination, Xenophobia and Related Intolerance held in Santiago, Chile.

Action (domestic and international)

May 2000. The President of NAC participated in an electronic roundtable discussion convened by Status of Women Canada (the federal government agency responsible for women's issues) to consult with Canadian women's non-governmental organizations on the outcome document, which sets out further actions and initiatives to implement the Beijing Declaration and Platform for Action within the Canadian context.

June 2000. At the NAC annual general meeting, information sessions on the twenty-third special session were organized for members. A report on the meeting in March 2000 was disseminated to over 200 member group delegates from across Canada. Position papers developed by the international coalitions in which the organization is a member, WICEJ and the Women of Colour North/South Caucus, were also circulated to the member groups as analytical tools to be utilized in their communities to promote awareness and mobilize broad participation of women in the implementation of the Beijing Declaration and Platform for Action.

NAC's quarterly newsletter, *Action Now!*, featured articles on the preparatory meetings for the twenty-third special session, held in March, and on the special session, held in June.

17 October 2000. NAC participated in a meeting with heads of the World Bank and the International Monetary Fund. Subsequently, NAC was a part of a group of women who actively participated in a meeting with the Secretary-General on the floor of the General Assembly. The meeting was chaired on his behalf by Deputy Secretary-General Louise Frechette and the Special Adviser on Gender Issues and the Advancement of Women, Assistant Secretary-General Angela King.

7. National Council of Women of Canada

(Special consultative status granted 1997)

The National Council of Women of Canada (NCWC), a non-partisan, non-political, non-governmental organization (NGO) founded in 1893, has the following mission statement: "To empower all women to work together towards improving the quality of life for women, families and society through a forum of member organizations and individuals". Membership has remained relatively static with some loss of nationally organized societies, which is partly offset by newly formed study groups. Financial resources remain stressed; the Government of Canada stopped all core funding, substituting instead "project funding". This is a cumbersome and time-consuming process. NCWC is taking steps to strengthen its financial base.

NCWC affiliated with the International Council of Women (ICW) in 1905, and is an active member with the Regional Council of the Americas, a geographical subset of the ICW. The present report starts as of August 1997 and covers the work of the NCWC representative to the United Nations, related work done by directors and/or convenors and relevant policy resolutions developed for and adopted or updated at the annual general meetings. The NCWC web site (www.ncwc.ca) has links to the United Nations and its agencies and documentation; in addition, the web

site contains NCWC policies, letters, briefs and reports, and the new NCWC Newsletter.

1997-1998. The Board of Directors of the National Council of Women of Canada appointed an official representative to the United Nations and decided, owing to limited financial resources, to limit the participation in person for the present time to the annual sessions of the United Nations Commission on the Status of Women.

The NCWC Representative to the United Nations participated in the following events in Canada:

- (a) The annual general meeting of the Canadian Committee for the United Nations Development Fund for Women (UNIFEM);
- (b) The joint conference of the United Nations Association in Canada and the United Nations Development Programme on good governance and democratization: the role of international organizations;
- (c) Consultations held by the Department of Foreign Affairs and International Trade preparatory to the annual session of the United Nations High Commission for Human Rights;
- (d) The forty-second session of the United Nations Commission on the Status of Women dealing with violence against women, the girl child, human rights of women and women in armed conflict, and the Optional Protocol to the Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women (CEDAW);
 - (e) A workshop on the proposed International Criminal Court.

Additional NCWC activities during this period included the following:

- (a) Memo to the Minister intervening for a female refugee;
- (b) Participation in Campaign 2000, calling for a children's agenda to fight child poverty;
- (c) Brief and letters to the Government on the Multilateral Agreement on Investment (MAI);
- (d) Participation in the Women's Leaders Network pre-Asia Pacific Economic Cooperation (APEC).

NCWC also adopted policy resolutions on violence against women (98.1); ensuring biodiversity/biosecurity in Canada (98.3); globalization: negotiating multilateral trade agreements (98.6); to establish an effective and just international criminal court (98.10); and economic gender analysis and gender analysis indicators (EM:98.1).

1998-1999. NCWC participated in the following conferences and consultations:

- (a) Forwarding of resolution (98.10) in support of the International Criminal Court to the Government of Canada;
- (b) Participation in work of the International Women's Caucus for Gender Justice through letters and e-mail during the United Nations Diplomatic Conference

of Plenipotentiaries on the Establishment of an International Criminal Court, held in Rome from 15 June to 17 July 1998;

- (c) Cross-Canada round tables for nuclear disarmament with a motion at the 1999 annual general meeting to reiterate NCWC policy in support of nuclear disarmament;
- (d) CEDAW strategies conference (York University): 15 women's organizations were present;
- (e) International Human Rights Conference (Edmonton, 26-28 November) marking the fiftieth anniversary of the adoption of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights;
- (f) Forum with Government preparatory to the twenty-first special session of the General Assembly for an overall review and appraisal of the implementation of the programme of Action of the International Conference on Population and Development, sending two participants (Hull, 22-24 March);
- (g) Coordination Session arranged by the Canadian Research Institute for the Advancement of Women (CRIAW) preparatory to the forty-third session of the United Nations Commission on the Status of Women;
- (h) Fortieth annual general meeting of the Canadian Commission for the United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization (UNESCO);
- (i) Intervention with federal and provincial Governments about the incarceration of young offenders in cells in direct contact with adult offenders in contravention of the Convention on the Rights of the Child (Canada is a signatory).

NCWC participated in the forty-third session of the United Nations Commission on the Status of Women including the non-governmental organization caucuses for the Optional Protocol to the Committee on the Elimination of Discrimination against Women; women's health, institutional mechanisms and national machineries; and the ad hoc drafting groups for non-governmental organization accreditation and the Global Alternative Report. The NCWC passed a motion to participate in the Global Alternative Report.

NCWC adopted the following policy resolutions and updates, forwarding six to the International Council of Women for possible consideration at the triennium in 2000: Implementing the Convention on the Rights of the Child (99.1); An International Convention for Humanitarian Aid (99.2) to ICW; Discrimination against the Poor (99.3) to ICW; Economic Sovereignty and Fair Labour Practices (99.5.b) to ICW; Taking Action on Global Climate Change (99PU.2); Women and HIV/AIDS (99PU.3); Securing the Future for Older Women (from ICW); Cancellation of Unsustainable Debt of Less Developed Countries (99EM.2) to ICW; The Tobin Tax (99EM.3) to ICW; Working Towards Peace (99EM.6); Supporting Ratification of the Rome Statute Establishing the International Criminal Court (99EM.7) to ICW; Alternative Agreements on Investments (99.7).

A special project on violence was the forum on understanding the connections: girls and young women as victims and perpetrators of violence.

1999-2000. NCWC continued its participation in the following:

- (a) The meetings of the Canadian Women's March Committee, including work on programme, demands and lobbying committees;
- (b) Attendance by the President, President-elect and representative at the conference held by the Non-Governmental Organization Section of the Department of Public Information (DPI/NGO);
- (c) Presentation of a brief to the parliamentary committee for electoral reform stressing the need to enable women to become candidates standing for election;
- (d) Participation in the Canadian Feminist Alliance for International Action (FAFIA) conference in preparation for the forty-fourth session of the United Nations Commission on the Status of Women;
- (e) Attendance at the forty-fourth session of the Commission, working with the NGO environment caucus, the Economic Commission for Europe caucus, the JUSCANZ (Japan, United States of America, Canada, Australia and New Zealand) NGO caucus and the Commonwealth NGO caucus;
- (f) Contribution to Status of Women Canada electronic round table and consultation to complete negotiations on the outcome document for the twenty-third special session of the General Assembly entitled "Women 2000: Gender equality, development and peace for the twenty-first century";
- (g) Participation by an NCWC delegate in the Conference on Women, The Family and Health sponsored by the World Health Organization, UNESCO, Air France and Nestlé in Buenos Aires, Argentina;
- (h) Organization of cross-Canada activities at the local level marking the International Year of Older Persons;
- (i) Participation in roundtable for the National Children's Agenda (on the topic of child poverty).

The National Council of Women of Canada adopted the following policy resolutions and updates: Protecting Children from Physical Violence: (2000.2); Improving Standards for Garment Workers: (2000.6); Child Poverty and Benefits: (2000.PU.3).

Motions were passed at the June 2000 annual general meeting directing (a) that a policy be developed on trafficking and prostitution of women and children in 2000-2001; and (b) that NCWC write to the Minister of Finance to verify that gender-based analysis was being used as part of the gender-mainstreaming commitment of the Government.

2000. NCWC prepared a project entitled, "The economics of later life: securing our future". NCWC sent a representative to the DPI/NGO conference; copies of the CEDAW text were circulated to all councils; policy resolutions were prepared for study on (a) prostitution and trafficking; (b) Canada's Immigration Policy; and (c) United Nations High Commission for Refugees.

8. Pathways to Peace

(Special consultative status granted 1989)

Pathways to Peace (PTP) is an international, peace-building, multicultural, educational, non-partisan and non-profit organization. The mission of PTP is to build the culture of peace by supporting the spirit, purpose and principles of the United Nations through concerted actions, programmes, special events, consultations and networking.

The Pathways to Peace vision statement is the basis of our work:

Acting in concert, we do make a difference in the quality of our lives, our institutions, our environment and our planetary future. Through cooperation, we manifest the essential spirit that unites us amid our diverse ways.

PTP continues to remain geographically affiliated with organizations throughout the world partnering in the "We the Peoples" initiative. Sources of funding are still derived from individual contributions, foundation grants, consulting fees and honoraria.

Since 1997, Pathways to Peace has worked in consultation with the Department of Public Information to create the annual youth event for the International Day of Peace at United Nations Headquarters. The programmes change from year to year and fill the conference room with students from the tri-state area. Mrs. Annan opens the event each year. Through the World Peace Flag Ceremony, children send messages of peace to every country. These programmes have included many dignitaries.

In 2000, the International Day of Peace was called Millennium Peace Day. Pathways to Peace was instrumental in linking UNESCO to Millennium Peace Day for the presentation to the President of the General Assembly of the UNESCO "Culture of Peace" manifesto with thousands of signatures.

Through the "We the Peoples" initiative and the Internet, the International Day of Peace is widely promoted by PTP and its 250 partner organizations from all the regions of the world. The International Day of Peace is celebrated in schools, places of worship and communities in over 40 countries.

As the international secretariat for the "We the Peoples" initiative and a United Nations peace messenger since 1989, Pathways to Peace produces and presents the initiative's annual report to the Secretary-General. Those reports contain the highlights of peace-building activities carried out by the participating organizations. PTP also serves as a resource for partners in the initiative.

Pathways worked closely with UNESCO on the International Day of Peace in 1999 in order to hold an event that launched the year 2000 as the Year for a Culture of Peace at United Nations Headquarters. The Decade was launched on the Day in 2000. PTP continues to be an active partner with UNESCO in the International Decade for a Culture of Peace and Non-violence for the Children of the World (2001-2010).

As an active member of the Interfaith Partnership for the Environment, PTP is listed in Earth and Faith: A Book of Reflection, published as the result of a

collaboration between United Nations Environment Programme and the Partnership. PTP is also an accredited non-governmental organization with UNICEF.

PTP is involved in United Nations conferences and preparatory committees. Representatives attended the annual September DPI/NGO conferences in 1997, 1998, 1999 and 2000. In 2000, Pathways to Peace organized and moderated a midday non-governmental organization workshop, Networking for the Globalization of Peace.

Pathways was involved in the five-year review process for the United Nations Conference on Environment and Development (1997) and the FWCW (2000) in New York; the World Youth Forum in Portugal (1998); The Hague Appeal for Peace in the Netherlands (1999) and the Millennium People's Assembly in New York (2000).

Pathways to Peace has held leadership positions within the non-governmental organization community, serving on the DPI/NGO Executive Committee from 1996 to 1998 and on the Values Caucus Council since 1996, when it was formed. The Values Caucus Council organizes monthly meetings for the NGO community, regular "coffees" featuring a permanent representative invited to share the values of his or her nation, and special events such as the December 2000 luncheon with ambassadors to discuss the values listed in the United Nations Millennium Declaration (General Assembly resolution 55/2) and the Secretary-General's millennium report.

Pathways to Peace participates in various NGO committees: the Committee of Religious NGOs, the Committee for Teaching about the United Nations, the committee on the decade for indigenous peoples, the Non-Governmental Organization Working Group on Girls, the committee for freedom of religion and belief, and the NGO committees on youth and on the status of women.

Pathways to Peace is committed to promoting a culture of peace through interfaith dialogue. Pathways served on the steering committee for the United Religions Initiative (URI), an outgrowth of the fiftieth United Nations anniversary celebration in San Francisco creating a worldwide network of interfaith groups to work together on projects and regional priorities (1995-2000). PTP assisted URI in applying for DPI/NGO status, which was granted in 2000.

At the Parliament of the World's Religions in Cape Town, South Africa, in 1999, PTP presented a workshop on the culture of peace and helped organize a major Parliament event at Robben Island with the World Peace Prayer Society.

PTP is a co-sponsor of and has been active in the planning of the annual interfaith service of commitment to the work of the United Nations organized by the Interfaith Center of New York and the Temple of Understanding since 1998. The Secretary-General, the President of the General Assembly, ambassadors, United Nations staff, non-governmental organizations and the public attend this service.

Pathways to Peace co-chaired the Interfaith Youth Forum in Support of the Millennium World Peace Summit for Religious and Spiritual Leaders at the United Nations in 2000. A total of 120 youth from twelve different religious traditions, six countries and eight states worked together for two days to experience different traditions and prepare a document for the religious leaders. The youth attended the opening of the Millennium Assembly.

Pathways to Peace works closely with the World Peace Prayer Society on their annual peace festival and special peace pole planting events. In January 1999, Pathways and the Society worked with the United Nations Centre for Human Settlements (Habitat) and their youth representatives in Nairobi to organize over 1,000 local people in a ceremony to plant a peace pole to commemorate the victims of the bombing of the United States embassy. Secretary-General Kofi Annan sent a message to Kenya on the occasion of the peace pole dedication.

PTP, working with the Kenya Society for the Blind, directed the project that brought and distributed radios to youth who were blinded or received an eye injury as a result of the bombing.

In 2000, PTP and the World Peace Prayer Society held an interfaith ceremony and planted a peace pole in Bethany, Jordan, as part of the Global Summit on Peace through Tourism organized by the International Institute of Peace through Tourism. The Summit produced the Amman Declaration on Peace through Tourism, which was taken note of by the General Assembly in its resolution 56/212 of 21 December 2001 entitled "Global code of ethics for tourism".

The Season for Non-violence, from 30 January to 4 April, marks the 64 days between the memorial anniversaries of Mahatma Gandhi and Martin Luther King, Jr. PTP has actively served on the New York City task force since it was organized in 1997. The opening and closing events are held annually at United Nations Headquarters in New York. The Season's Gandhi-King Award for Non-violence has been presented to Secretary-General Kofi Annan (1999), former President Nelson Mandela (2000) and Global Kids (2001). Mahatma Gandhi's grandson, Arun Gandhi, is a founder of this international programme and the family of Martin Luther King, Jr. is very involved. Pathways created the Gandhi-King web site to promote the Season in 1997. In a letter to Pathways to Peace, Coretta Scott King expressed her appreciation to PTP for its "significant contribution" to education on the principles of non-violence.

For the fiftieth Anniversary of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, Pathways co-sponsored an interfaith service in New York City on 10 December 1998. A sculpture exhibit by Anne Mimi Sammis, "One thousand years of peace", was co-sponsored by PTP at the United Nations Secretariat in March 1999.

9. Robert F. Kennedy Memorial

(Special consultative status granted 1993)

Introductory statement

The Robert F. Kennedy Memorial seeks to promote respect for human rights and social justice in accordance with international human rights law and United Nations principles. It works to accomplish these aims through several programmes. The RFK Book Award and the RFK Journalism Awards recognize authors and journalists, print and broadcast, whose work reflects Robert Kennedy's concern for the poor and powerless and his struggle for honest and even-handed justice. The national youth project (RFK Fellows Program) empowers youth in United States cities to serve as leaders in their communities while creating innovative service projects to meet outstanding needs in urban centres. The Human Rights Award

honours individuals who stand up to oppression in the non-violent pursuit of respect for the full range of human rights.

The Robert F. Kennedy Memorial Center for Human Rights carries out projects that support, complement or enhance the human rights work of the Human Rights Award laureates and that promote respect for human rights in the laureates' countries. The Center seeks to heighten awareness of human rights issues, stop human rights violations and encourage Governments, international organizations and private actors to adopt policies that ensure respect for international human rights. Through its relationships with the Award laureates, the organizations with which they are affiliated and other activists in their countries, the Center strives to enhance their capacity, increase the impact of their work and share the lessons from their experience with the international human rights community.

The Memorial is not a membership organization. It has an International Advisory Committee, currently composed of 60 members from throughout the world, who help to nominate candidates for the Human Rights Award. Committee members are chosen for their regional and thematic knowledge. The regions and countries of origin of the members of the Committee are given below:

Africa: Botswana, Kenya, Senegal, South Africa and Uganda; Americas: Argentina, Bolivia, Canada, Chile, Mexico, Peru, United States and Venezuela; Asia and the Middle East: China, India, the Occupied Palestinian Territory, Pakistan and the Philippines; Europe: Czech Republic, Federal Republic of Yugoslavia, France, Germany, United Kingdom; Other: Australia.

The thematic areas of expertise of the members of the Committee include women's rights, refugee and immigrant rights, impunity and accountability, torture, right to health, religious rights, indigenous rights, freedom of association, freedom of expression and freedom from racial discrimination.

For the Memorial's human rights work, its core constituency is made up of the Human Rights Award laureates, with whom the Center develops close, collaborative relationships. The regions and countries of the Award laureates are:

Africa: Kenya, Liberia, Malawi, South Africa and Sudan; **Americas**: Colombia, El Salvador and Guatemala; **Asia and the Middle East**: China, India, Indonesia, Israel, the Occupied Palestinian Territory, South Korea and Viet Nam; **Europe**: Poland and Turkey.

The funding sources for the Memorial have not changed since 1996. The Memorial continues to receive the bulk of its support from private contributions and fund-raising events. It also receives support from foundations. The domestic national youth project has received grants from the United States Government for its work. The Center does not accept Government funding for its own work. However, at the request of the Center's Indonesian laureate, in 1999 the Center agreed to serve as a pass-through agency for a grant in the amount of \$127,396 from the United States Agency for International Development to the Indonesian Legal Aid Foundation.

Participation in the Economic and Social Council, its subsidiary bodies and/or conferences and other United Nations meetings

The Memorial has participated each year since 1994 in the annual sessions of the Commission on Human Rights. The memorial undertook the following activities at those sessions:

Commission on Human Rights, fifty-third session, 1997

• Public briefing on the human rights situation in China

Commission on Human Rights, fifty-fourth session, 1998

- Oral statement on human rights violations and national security laws
- Joint oral statement on human rights and fundamental freedoms, including the programme and methods of work of the Commission

Commission on Human Rights, fifty-fifth session, 1999

- Oral statement on national legislation that restricts the freedoms of association, expression and information
- Oral statement on human rights violations and national security laws

Commission on Human Rights, fifty-sixth session, 2000

- Joint oral statement on the organization of the work of the session, including the situation of human rights in Colombia
- Oral statement on the violation of human rights and fundamental freedoms in any part of the world
- Oral statement on the independence of the judiciary

During the fifty-sixth session of the Commission, the Center co-sponsored three public briefings on the rule of law, impunity and accountability.

The Center participated in the Americas preparatory conference, held in December 2000 in Santiago de Chile, for the upcoming World Conference against Racism, Racial Discrimination, Xenophobia and Related Intolerance. The Center provided information to representatives of Governments on the issue of work and descent-based discrimination.

Cooperation with United Nations bodies and specialized agencies and other relevant activities

The Center continues to cooperate with the special procedures of the Commission on Human Rights whenever possible. The Center strongly welcomed the creation of the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner in Santa Fé de Bogotá, Colombia, and since 1998 has maintained a regular correspondence with the Office on issues related to human rights defenders. The Center has also maintained a supportive relationship with the United Nations Verification Mission in Guatemala (MINUGUA) that began during 1995 and 1996 while research was under way for the Center's 1996 report, Civil Patrols and their Legacy: Overcoming Militarization and Polarization in the Guatemalan Countryside. The Center provided information

to the Special Rapporteur on the independence of judges and lawyers in preparation for his 1999 mission to Guatemala. In 1998 the Center submitted a report on military violence against women in Irian Jaya to the Special Rapporteur on violence against women, its causes and consequences.

Gay McDougall, an expert on the Committee on the Elimination of Racial Discrimination, is a member of the Board of Directors of the Memorial.

10. Women's Missionary Society of the African Methodist Episcopal Church

(Special consultative status granted 1985)

The Women's Missionary Society of the African Methodist Episcopal Church (WMS), was established in 1864 and, as expressed in its mission statement, "endeavour[s] to make possible opportunities and resources to meet the changing needs and concerns of people throughout the world, do ordain this Society and offer a fellowship so strong, a message so convincing and so enthusiastically contagious that the gospel through us will be at work in the world". The Society is, among other things, the social outreach arm of the Church, with established societies around the world representing approximately 800,000 women. WMS is active in the Bahamas, Bermuda, Central Africa, the Dominican Republic, England, Guyana, Haiti, Jamaica, Namibia, South Africa, Southern Africa, Suriname, Trinidad, the United States and West Africa. The Society focuses primarily on issues concerning women, children and families; however, it is recognized that the whole community must be addressed.

The Society also works in affiliation with a number of other organizations, including Church Women United, the National Council of Negro Women, the World Federation of Methodist Women, Bread for the World, the Children's Defense Fund and several commissions of the World Council of Churches and the National Council of Churches (United States). The Women's Missionary Society is also accredited with the Department of Public Information and attends the weekly briefings it sponsors as well as the annual conference for non-governmental organizations held in September each year.

During the quadrennial reporting period, 1997-2000, WMS exercised its privilege as an NGO in Special Consultative Status to the Economic and Social Council by contributing its opinions and recommendations through replies to questions and submissions of statements. The Society has also been actively involved in developing a resource library of appropriate materials that speak to the issues and concerns of the organization. WMS has disseminated information and materials relative to the programmes and projects addressed by the United Nations to a wide range of its constituents. Each year, a two-day conference was held at the United Nations each October, at which Society members from around the network had the opportunity to attend workshops and seminars presented by invited representatives from a variety of United Nations agencies. Issues presented included human rights, concerning which Sheila Dauer, Director of the Women's Human Rights Program of Amnesty International, provided avenues of involvement for the Society and individuals. Attendees were also encouraged to become involved in United Nations activities relating to the celebration of the fiftieth Anniversary of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights in 1998.

After a presentation at one of the organization's workshops by Rebecca Rios-Kahn, of the United Nations human rights and development office, the Society instituted a legislative lobby campaign to ratify the Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women and through the United Methodist Church Office for the United Nations, became a member of Project CEDAW. The WMS-NGO representatives attended the twenty-first session of CEDAW in June 1999.

At another WMS-NGO issues awareness conference, Andrew Radar, UNESCO Liaison Office, was invited to make a presentation. He provided perspectives on Haiti and Zambia and on the good work UNESCO is doing in partnership with the Governments of both countries. Other issues of advocacy and concern have included HIV/AIDS and other health issues, environmental justice and UNICEF, among others. At another WMS-NGO-sponsored seminar, representatives of the permanent missions to the United Nations of Namibia, South Africa and Uganda provided attendees with an overview of the HIV/AIDS pandemic and the resulting indigence among children. As part of the Society's involvement in the debt relief crisis, a United Nations economic affairs officer was invited to present a picture of the continued and continuing impoverishment of Africa as a result of the overwhelming debt crisis confronting many of the nations in that region. The organization was called upon to exercise its influence and continue the Jubilee 2000 fight for debt relief. These conferences have all been well attended and the issues addressed and information imparted assisted in the development of social and economic programming for the Society on the local and international levels.

At the October 2000 conference, the special keynote speaker was scheduled to be Secretary-General Kofi Annan. However owing to circumstances in the Middle East and his travel to the area, he was unable to attend. His replacement was Assistant Secretary-General for External Relations Jillian Sorensen. The conference theme was "Mobilizing against poverty, a clarion call: connect, act, respond, experience".

A generous amount of information on the objectives and purposes of the United Nations has been provided, and WMS has disseminated that information through its print and electronic media. The Society's major publication is *Missionary Magazine*, which is published bimonthly. The publication is widely distributed throughout the United States and abroad. The non-governmental organization representatives provide articles twice a year for publication. Another communications tool, *The Missionary Missive*, a quarterly newsletter published by the WMS, also provides an avenue for the dissemination of information. The non-governmental organization representatives also download many United Nations reports and documents so they may be electronically sent to the regional non-governmental organization liaisons for further distribution.

The Society has held Special Consultative Status with the Economic and Social Council (ECOSOC) since 1985. The Society's status has greatly enhanced the vision of its global responsibilities and has provided an arena for interaction with other organizations whose focus is women and children, peace and justice, and health and human rights. Being connected with such a vast resource as the United Nations, WMS can spread its reach to assist its own constituency, both nationally and globally.

28